

COVID19- Mental Health Tool Kit

Mental Health Guide and Coping Strategies for Healthcare Staff During the COVID-19 Pandemic نحن نهتـم We Care

مركز جونز هوبكنز أرامكو الطبي Johns Hopkins Aramco Healthcare

Prepared by:

Dr. Raafat Samir Mishriky, FRCPsych (UK), Consultant Psychiatrist

Dr. Abdul Sammad Jishi, MD, Consultant Psychiatrist & Chief of Psychiatry,

Contents

Introduction

Why this guide is important

The mental health symptoms that can be experienced by healthcare staff during a crisis such as a pandemic

Worries about families

Worries about post-traumatic stress

Low mood and lack of motivation

Types of guilt that can affect healthcare staff

Survivor guilt

Bystander guilt

Compassion fatigue

Vicarious trauma

Worries around stigmas toward healthcare staff

Physician grief

Mental resilience

Altruism

Peer support, mental health training & education

Introduction

This guide is written during the novel corona virus SARS-COV-2, known as COVID-19, pandemic with the purpose of helping healthcare staff in dealing with mental health issues that may affect them as a result of the pandemic.

The term healthcare staff is somewhat arbitrary. Although this guide is written predominantly for physicians, nurses, ambulance and emergency room staff and others who are involved with direct patient care, healthcare staff who are not in direct contact with patients will find it helpful as well. ^{3,53}

Why this guide is important

In the fight against COVID-19, healthcare professionals are facing extensive pressure due to the healthcare they provide but also for concerns for their loved ones. This can be associated with the additional cognitive, emotional and mental health demands being placed on them as a result of the pandemic. They include dealing fear, anger and denial, sleep problems, depression and anxiety, acute and post-traumatic stress as well as factors related to their profession such as dealing with healthcare worker stigma, mental resilience, special forms of guilt, conflicts around liability, grief and altruism. This guide explains these factors and provides evidence-based methods for coping. Pandemics require healthcare staff to be flexible in their roles. This may involve working in an unfamiliar surrounding or in clinical areas outside their usual practice. This can be stressful, especially if it involves assuming a clinical leadership role.

It is advisable to read this guide in conjunction with another produced by the same authors titled: Guide for Communities and Patients in Isolation, Quarantine and Their Families and Friends, which also applies to healthcare professionals.



The mental health symptoms that can be experienced by healthcare staff during a crisis such as a pandemic

Humanitarian roles have a positive impact on life. There is ample evidence that healthcare staff responding to crises experience positive effects such as personal growth, appreciation for life and sense of achievement. ²⁴

Exposure to trauma in most cases does not lead to serious long-term psychological consequences; most healthcare staff staff who experience stress will recover after the crisis. 3 However, evidence suggests that healthcare staff and other crisis responders are at increased risk for both immediate and long-term emotional distress.²⁸ Factors that increase the risk of healthcare providers for mental health problems include prior psychiatric history or having experienced stressful life events prior to the crisis, a high level of exposure during the crisis, having performed difficult tasks or roles outside their usual responsibilities, knowing someone who died or was injured during the crisis, or those with lack of social support or ability to cope. ³

Worries about families

Married healthcare staff report more fear of the outbreak than those who are unmarried or divorced; this is associated with greater family responsibility. Healthcare staff, including nurses, reported feeling torn between family concerns and healthcare obligations. Concerns for the health of oneself or one's family is higher among healthcare staff who are living with children or the elderly. Consequently, practical support, special counselling and help with child and elderly care may be necessary. 1, 26, 54

Worries around post-traumatic stress

Predisposing factors related to post-traumatic stress disorder include past history of trauma including personal and occupational trauma; perceived threat to life or danger during the crisis; cognitive factors such as thoughts of dying, peri-traumatic dissociation; and family psychological history. 3, 4

Staff working with a high level of exposure to patients suffering from a viral outbreak report greater stress and avoidance, a higher level of post-traumatic stress and higher alcohol misuse than those not working with a high level of exposure to patients. 16,17,18,19

Denial and avoidance were associated with poor mental health, especially in doctors and nurses, and developing post-traumatic stress; however, proactive and outfacing coping strategies, problem-solving and humor have all been shown to reduce the effects of trauma. 7, 8



Low mood and lack of motivation

Lack of motivation to work among healthcare staff was found in both quantitative and qualitative studies to be associated with concern for the well-being of their loved ones, especially those with child and elderly care responsibilities. ^{25, 26} However the most important factor affecting motivation to work was found to be the perception of the importance of the healthcare staff member's role in the crisis response. ²⁷ Motivation to work was found to increase after training and education. ²⁶

Staff with more direct patient care responsibilities could be at higher risk of experiencing stress. For example, nurses and doctors are more likely to report a high level of stress than those providing healthcare assistance and allied healthcare professionals. Nurses were more likely to show post-traumatic stress than other hospital employees. ^{12, 13, 14, 15} During crises, healthcare providers may feel a weakened sense of trust within a healthcare facility, lonely, no longer respected, ostracized, strained relationships with other healthcare providers, and fear of Infection as a result of a small mistake, and strained patient provider relationships. ²

Performing duties during a crisis that are not normally part of someone's usual responsibility appears to have a negative impact on mental health, especially if the individual assumed a leadership role. ^{3, 5} Debriefing that focuses on experiences during the crisis should not be part of routine practice as if was found to have a negative effect; however, active monitoring, watchful waiting and cognitive behavioral therapy shortly after trauma are effective strategies, especially when symptoms are significant. ^{9,10}

Being quarantined as a healthcare provider was associated with a negative impact on mental health, acute stress symptoms and feeling stigmatized with a subsequent reluctance to work and a decline in performance. ²⁰ The impact of precautionary measures on the ability to do one's job during a crisis appeared to be an independent factor associated with emotional distress. ²¹

Types of guilt that can affect healthcare staff

Survivor guilt

Individuals with healthcare responsibility and clinical authority in dealing with the well-being of others during a crisis may be at risk of feeling both conscious and unconscious guilt. Healthcare staff may feel guilty for surviving a crisis or that they were unable to rescue someone despite all their efforts. They may also feel guilty if they could not control the symptoms. Guilt may intensify or complicate trauma and can result in harm to self or suicidal thoughts. ^{40, 44}

Survivor guilt can be experienced in the absence of wrongdoing and occasionally can be persistent. Hence, it is different to other types of guilt. Survivor guilt is an associated feature of post-traumatic stress disorder. ⁴⁹

Survivor guilt is also associated with shame and shattered cognitive schemas related to meaningfulness of self and the world: consequently, survivor's guilt in healthcare staff requires special attention to identify. Developing insight and interventions that focus on making sense and meaning of the experience are essential. 45, 46, 47, 48



Bystander guilt

By stander guilt is a form of guilt that can affect healthcare staff, especially during crises. It is defined as not being able to undo the effects of suffering and can be associated with thinking that no matter what is done, it will not be enough. 41

Unprocessed guilt can make recovery difficult. Strong social connectedness and professional and peer support groups are valuable in survivor guilt interventions as well as building insight, growth and improvements in personality. ^{35, 40, 42, 43}

Factors that can protect a healthcare professional from developing guilt include good social support, positive coping skills such as talking and breathing exercises, and the level of perceived personal accomplishment such as feelings of giving back have all been associated with higher resiliency and lower levels of burn out. ^{7, 31}

Disaster survivor and responder protective factors also include personal healthy coping measures such as exercise, meditation, separating work and personal life and the ability to maintain realistic optimism. ^{33,34}



Compassion fatigue

Compassion fatigue is a diminished capacity to show empathy and can happen in situations where a healthcare professional has to deal with a high number of traumatized individuals and where a high level of empathy is required. ²⁹

Vicarious trauma

Vicarious trauma can happen when working with traumatized individuals. It affects the cognitive status of the provider and may change an individual's ability of perceive and process information. ³⁰



Worries around stigmas toward healthcare staff

Learning from the SARS outbreak and the following guarantine, about 20% of healthcare staff experienced feelings of stigmatization and rejection in their communities. About 9% reported reluctance to work and considered resigning in the period of guarantine. ⁵¹ Furthermore, there is a risk of reduced morale, professional isolation and reluctance to do administrative work, especially if infection control measures require wearing a mask and avoiding unnecessary contact.⁵² Evidence suggest that stigma resulting in unease and distrust experienced by healthcare professionals is shared among different persons working in a healthcare facility, both clinical and non-clinical staff, even affecting porters working in healthcare facilities. ² Stigma related to healthcare staff appears to be affected by individuals that were previously very close, including friends, families and colleagues. Consequently, awareness, support and special care are all needed during and for months after a crisis. This may include assigning a mental health professional or services that can work with providers of care and assist them with recovery.

Physician grief

The word grief comes from the Latin word "gravis," which is carrying the burden of a loss. Human grief is a universal and natural response to any kind of significant loss. The normal grief stages for individuals may include denial, anger, bargaining, depression and acceptance. Physician grief, however, is more complex and different. Death of a patient, for instance, is a significant event associated with added stress for physicians. It is an experience that almost all physicians have had. 55,60

Physicians often experience grief when faced with the death of a patient under their care. Nearly 30% of physicians report personal bereavement after a patient's death. Physicians in training report the need for more emotional support. Interestingly, less than a quarter found discussing the patient's death with a senior physician was helpful. ⁵⁷

Physician grief can be associated with loss, self-doubt, sadness and a feeling of being powerless. Physicians and nursing staff cry; 76% of nurses and 57% of physicians report the primary reason for crying on the job is identification and bonding with the suffering of dying patients and their families. ^{58, 61}

Acknowledging the feeling of loss, didactic preparation, pursuing healthy coping strategies, rest, relaxation, nourishment, sense of security, trust, hope in the future, time spent alone and with others and adequate professional grief support have all been found to be favorable interventions in physician grief. ^{56, 59}

Suppressing physician grief is unnatural. Some patient deaths result in significant emotional reactions that can remain suppressed for decades and erupt suddenly with vivid recollection. Physician grief can be concealed by an awareness of professional responsibilities; consequently, a physician's own emotional aspects can be suppressed to sustain attention on the technical aspects of the physician's role. Without education, there is a danger of an anti-emotion culture in medical circles. Physician grief can fluctuate between expressing emotions and suppressing them. This is known as dual process bereavement. ⁶²

Mental resilience



The word 'resilience' originates in physics as is defined as "the property of a material to return to its original shape after being bent or compressed." ## In Psychiatry, Mental resilience is one's ability to recover or adapt from extreme traumatic conditions such as a crisis, pandemic or serious threat. ³² Mental resilience is important for all communities during a crisis but has special importance for healthcare staff.

The terms mental resilience, mental immunity and mental hygiene are often used synonymously. 36 Individuals with mental illness have lower levels of resilience; however, resilience is modifiable and can improve with intervention. ³⁸

Resilience is a dynamic and continuous process that encourages positive adaptations and is closely associated with mental health. It is an essential component of psychosocial recovery. Resilience is not just about the resistance to traumatic events but also the ability to grow and develop under difficult conditions. The components of building strong mental resilience involves an understanding of the impact of trauma and development of positive meaning and internal cohesion between one's thoughts, emotions and actions. ³⁷

Social support during and after crises appears to enhance psychological resilience and is associated with a risk for mental health problems including anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder. ^{3, 6} Negative work cultures and poor support from supervisors have been

associated with mental health symptoms among healthcare staff exposed to a severe acute respiratory syndrome outbreak. 6 However, protective factors appear to be more important than risk factors in mental resilience. These include establishing a sense of purpose and support provided by families and friends, especially if it is based on shared culture, religion or recreational interests. Extended networks are important for healthcare staff and has been associated with both individual and community resilience. ³⁹

Altruism

Altruism may help protect healthcare staff against negative mental health. Studies show that altruism provides a buffering effect on the development of posttraumatic stress disorder. 1 As long as it isn't overwhelming, reasonable altruism, a helpful and kind behavior towards others. has been found to be associated with good physical, mental and moral well-being, and it has been associated with longevity. 50 Evidence from previous outbreaks suggest that exposure to an outbreak at work, being in



quarantine or the death or illness of a relative or friend from an outbreak contributes to post-traumatic stress disorder for healthcare staff. However, altruism may help protect healthcare staff against negative mental health impact. Studies suggest that altruism provides a buffering effect on the development of post-traumatic stress disorder. Altruistic acceptance of risk was negatively related to the disorder. ¹

Peer support, mental health training & education

There is evidence that peer support interventions designed to develop psychological support within teams are successful in improving the ability of healthcare staff to support their colleagues and in reducing the stigma around mental health. ¹¹

Training and preparedness were found to be protective of mental health and have been associated with an increase in confidence and more positive well-being in trauma exposed staff. ^{22, 23}

Continuous training and education for clinical and non-clinical healthcare staff about mental health are associated with more understanding and recognition of mental health problems. Positive coping strategies have been associated with enhanced resilience, altruism and reduced stigma and can favorably influence the predisposing factors for developing mental illness. Mental health training programs have been shown to reduce work-related illness and absence from work. Education and training of healthcare managers and leaders about mental health is strongly encouraged. ³



References

- 1. Ping Wu et al, The Psychological Impact of the SARS Epidemic on Hospital Employees in China: Exposure, Risk Perception and Altruistic Acceptance of Risk, Can J Psychiatry. 2009 May: 54 (5):302-311
- 2. Shannon A. McMahon et al, Healthcare providers on the frontlines: a qualitative investigation of the social and emotional impact of delivering health services

During Sierra Leone's Ebola epidemic, Health Policy and Planning, 2016, 31, 1232-1239

- 3. Samantha K. Brooks et al, Traumatic Stress within disaster exposed occupations: Overview of the Literature and suggestions for the management of traumatic stress in the work place, British Medical Bulletin, 2018, 1-10
- 4. Ozer EJ, Best SR et al. Predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder and symptoms in adults: a meta-analysis, Psychol Bull 2003; 129:52–73.
- 5. Berninger A, Webber MP, et al. Trends of elevated PTSD risk in firefighters exposed to the World Trade Center disaster: 2001–2005. Public Health Rep, 2010; 125:556–66.
- 6. Tam CW, Pang EP et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Hong Kong in 2003: Stress and psychological impact among frontline healthcare workers. Psychol Med 2004; 34:1197–1204.
- 7. Brooks SK, Dunn R, Sage CAM, et al. Risk and resilience factors affecting the psychological wellbeing of individuals deployed in humanitarian relief roles after a disaster. J Ment Health 2015; 24:385–413
- 8. Sim K, Chong PN, Chan YH, et

- al. Severe acute respiratory syndromerelated psychiatric and posttraumatic morbidities and coping responses in medical staff within a primary healthcare setting in Singapore. J Clin Psychiatry 2004; 65:1120
- 9. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Guidelines: Post-traumatic Stress Disorder, 2018
- 10. Benedek D, Fullerton C, Ursano RJ. First responders, mental health consequences of natural and humanmade disasters for public health and public safety workers. Annu Rev Public Health 2007; 28:55–68.
- 11. Whybrow D et al Promoting organizational well-being: a comprehensive review of Trauma Risk Management. Occup Med 2015; 63: 549–55.
- 12. Maunder RG, Lancee WJ, et al. Factors associated with the psychological impact of severe acute respiratory syndrome on nurses and other hospital workers in Toronto. Psychosom Med. 2004; 66:938–942.
- 13. Tam CW, Pang EP, Lam LC, et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Hong Kong in 2003: stress and psychological impact among frontline healthcare workers. Psychol Med. 2004; 34:1197–1204.
- 14. Nickell LA, Crighton EJ, Tracy CS, et al. Psychosocial effects of SARS on hospital staff: survey of a large tertiary care institution. CMAJ. 2004; 170:793–798
- 15. Wong TW, Yau JK, Chan CL, et al. The psychological impact of severe acute respiratory syndrome outbreak on healthcare workers in emergency departments and how they cope. Eur J

- Emerg Med. 2005; 12:13-18.
- 16. Chen CS, Wu HY, Yang PC, et al. Psychological distress of nurses in Taiwan who worked during the outbreak of SARS. Psychiatr Serv. 2005; 56:76–79.
- 17. Wu P, Fang Y, Guan Z, et al. The psychological impact of the SARS epidemic on hospital employees in China: exposure, risk perception, and altruistic acceptance of risk. Can J Psychiatry. 2009; 54:302–311.
- 18. Wu P, Liu X, Fang Y, et al. Alcohol abuse/dependence symptoms among hospital employees exposed to a SARS outbreak. Alcohol Alcohol.2008; 43:706–712.
- 19. McAlonan GM, Lee AM, et al. Immediate and sustained psychological impact of an emerging infectious disease outbreak on healthcare workers. Can J Psychiatry. 2007; 52:241–247.
- 20. Bai Y, Lin CC, Lin CY, et al. Survey of stress reactions among healthcare workers involved with the SARS outbreak. Psychiatr Serv. 2004; 55:1055–1057.
- 21. Nickell LA, Crighton EJ, et al. Psychosocial effects of SARS on hospital staff: survey of a large tertiary care institution. CMAJ. 2004; 170:793–798.
- 22. Brooks SK, Dunn R, Amlo[†]t R, et al. Social and occupational factors associated with psychological distress and disorder among disaster responders: a systematic review. BMC Psychol. 2016; 4:18.
- 23. Aiello A, Young, Eun Khayeri M, et al. Resilience training for hospital workers in anticipation of an influenza pandemic. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2011; 31:15–20.
- 24. Rubin GJ, Harper S, Williams PD, et al. How to support staff deploying on overseas humanitarian work: a

- qualitative analysis of responder views about the 2014/15 West African Ebola outbreak. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2016:7:10
- 25. Smith E. Emergency healthcare workers' willingness to work during major emergencies and disasters. Aust J Emerg Manage. 2007; 22:21–24.
- 26. Qureshi K, Gershon R, Sherman M, et al. Healthcare workers' ability and willingness to report to duty during catastrophic disasters. J Urban Health. 2005; 82:378–388.
- 27. Balicer R, Omer S, Barnett D, et al. Local public health workers' perceptions toward responding to an influenza pandemic. BMC Public Health. 2006: 6:1–8.
- 28. Benedek, D. M., Fullerton, C. et al First Responders: Mental Health Consequences of Natural and Human-Made Disasters for Public Health and Public Safety Workers*. Annu. Rev. Public Health, 2007, 28, 55–68.
- 29. Adams, R. E., Boscarino, J. A., & Figley, C. R. Compassion fatigue and psychological distress among social workers: A validation study. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 2006, 76(1), 103–108.
- 30. Hernandez-Wolfe, P., Killian, K., et al. Vicarious resilience, vicarious trauma, and awareness of equity in trauma work. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 2015, 55(2), 153–172.
- 31. Chang, K., & Taormina, R. J. Reduced secondary trauma among Chinese earthquake rescuers: A test of correlates and life indicators, Journal of Loss and Trauma, 2011, 16(6), 542–562.
- 32. Masten, A.S., & Obradovic, J. Disaster preparation and recovery: Lessons from research on resilience

- in human development. Ecology and Society, 2008, 13(1).
- 33. Cohen, K., & Collens, P. The impact of trauma work on trauma workers: A metasynthesis on vicarious trauma and vicarious posttraumatic growth. Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 2013, 5(6), 570.
- 34. Harrison, R. L., & Westwood, M. J. Preventing vicarious traumatization of mental health therapists: Identifying protective practices. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 2009, 46(2), 203.
- 35. DeLongis, A., & Holtzman, S. Coping in context: the role of stress, social support, and personality in coping. J Pers, 2005, 73(6), 1633–1656.
- 36. Davydov DM, Stewart R et al. Resilience and mental health. Clin Psychol Rev. 2010; 30:479–95.
- 37. Truffino JC. Resilience: An approach to the concept. Rev Psiquiatr Salud Ment. 2010; 3:145–51.
- 38. Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: The connor-davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC) Depress Anxiety. 2003; 18:76–82.
- 39. Buikstra E, Ross H, King C, Baker P et al, McLachlan K, et al. The components of resilience-perceptions of an Australian rural community. J Community Psychol. 2010;38:975–91
- 40. Schiraldi, G. R. The Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Source Book, 2000, Lowell House, Los Angeles, USA
- 41. Danieli, Y. Psychotherapist's participation in the conspiracy of silence about the holocaust. Psychoanalytic Psychology, 1984 1, 23-42.
- 42. Alexander, D. A. The Piper Alpha oil rig disaster International Handbook of Traumatic Stress Syndromes. P 461-470,

- 1993, New York: Plenum Press, USA 43. Lifton, R. J. From Hiroshima to Nazi doctors: The evolution of psych formative approaches to understanding traumatic stress syndromes, International Handbook of Traumatic Stress Syndromes., (pp. 11-23). 1993, New York: Plenum Press, USA 44. Schwarz, E. D. & Kowalski, J. M. Personality characteristics and posttraumatic stress symptoms after a school shooting. Journal of Nervous and Mental Diseases, 180 (11), 735-737, 1992 45. Currier JM, Holland JM, Neimeyer RA Sense-making, grief, and the experience of violent loss: Towards a mediational model. Death Studies, 2006
- 46. Davis CG, Nolen-Heoksema S, Larson J Making sense of loss and benefiting from experiences: Two construals of meaning. J Pers Soc Psychol, 1998, 75: 561-574.

30: 403-428.

- 47. Janoff-Bulman R, Assumptive worlds and the stress of traumatic events: Application of the schema construct. Soc Coqn, 1998 7: 113-136.
- 48. Janoff-Bulman R, Shattered assumptions: Towards a new psychology of trauma. J Ner Mental Disease 1993, 181: 208-209.
- 49. Pethania Y, Murray H, and Brown D, Living a Life That Should Not Be Lived: A qualitative Analysis of the Experience of Survivor Guilt, Journal Of Traumatic Stress Disorders & Treatment, 2018, 7:1
- 50. Schwartz, C., Meisenhelder, J. B et al .Altruistic social interest behaviors are associated with better mental health. Psychosomatic Medicine, 2003, 65, 778–785.
- 51. Bai Y, Lin CC, Lin CY, et al, Survey of stress reactions among

- healthcare workers involved with the SARS outbreak. Psychiatr. Ser. 2004, 55(9):1055–57
- 52. Maunder R, Hunter J, Vincent L, et al. The immediate psychological and occupational impact of the 2003 SARS outbreak in a teaching hospital. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 2003, 168(10):1245–51
- 53. David M.Benedek, Carol Fullerton and RobertJ.Ursano, First Responders: Mental Health Consequences of Natural and Human Made Disasters for Public Health and Public Safety Workers, Annual Review of Public Health, 2007, 28:55-68
- 54. Ehrenstein, B P, Hanses F and Sulzberger, B Influenza pandemic and professional duty: family or patient's first? A survey of hospital employees, BMC Public Health, 2006,6,311
- 55. Christine A, Bruce, MA, The grief process for patient, family and physician, JAOA, Sep 2002, 3: Vol 102, No 9
- 56. Metcalf CW, Felible R. Lighten Up: Survival Skills for People Under Pressure. Cambridge, Mass: Perseus Books; 1992
- 57. Randy A. Sansone and Lori A. Sansone, Physician Grief with Patient Death, The Interface, Innov Clin Neurosci, 2012, 9 (4) 22-16
- 58. Wagner RE, Hexel M, et al. crying in hospitals: a survey of doctors', nurses', and medical students' experience and attitudes. Med J Aust. 1997; 166:13–16.
- 59. Meier DE, Back AL, Morrison RS. The inner life of physicians and care of the seriously ill. JAMA. 2001;286:3007–3014
- 60. Kvale J, Berg L, Groff JY, et al. Factors associated with residents' attitudes toward dying patients. Fam

- Med, 1999; 31:691-6.
- 61. Papadatou D. A proposed model of health professionals' grieving process. Omega 2000; 41:59–77.
- 62. Stroebe M, Schut H. The dual process model of coping with bereavement: rationale and description. Death Studies 1999; 23:197–224.